Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# **DNA Repair**



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/dnarepair

## Mini-review Coping with DNA double strand breaks

## **Kevin Hiom**

Riomedical Research Institute & Dundee Cancer Centre, Ninewells Hospital & Medical School, Dundee DD1 9SY, Scotland, UK

## ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Accepted 15 September 2010 Available online 5 November 2010

Keywords: DNA repair DNA double strand breaks Non-homologous end-joining Homologous recombination

#### Contents

## The repair of DNA double strand breaks (dsb) is important for maintaining the physical and genetic integrity of the genome. Moreover, in humans it is associated with the prevention of diseases such as immune deficiencies and cancer. This review briefly explores the fundamental strategies for repairing dsb, examines how cells maximize the fidelity of dsb repair in the cell cycle and discusses the requirements for dsb repair in the context of chromatin.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1.	Introduction	1256
2.	DNA end-joining	1257
	2.1. Non homologous end-joining (NHE])	1257
	2.2. Alternative end joining/microhomology mediated end joining	1258
3.	Specialized break repair functions for NHEI.	1258
	3.1. V(D)] recombination	1258
	3.2. Class switch recombination	1259
4.	Homology directed DSB repair (HR)	1259
5.	End joining or HR: the battle for dsb	. 1260
6.	NHEI and HR: good intention. bad outcome	1260
7.	Dsb repair in the context of chromatin	1261
	Conflict of interest	1262
	References	. 1262

## 1. Introduction

Cells are subjected to a wide range of DNA damage that pose a constant threat to the structural and genetic integrity of the genome. A single base change or physical discontinuity in an important gene may have ongoing and catastrophic effects on the health and viability of an organism. To minimize this threat cells have evolved a comprehensive toolbox for tolerating, reversing and repairing genomic insults (reviewed in [1]).

One of the most toxic lesions in DNA is the double-stranded break (dsb) where the phosphate backbones of the two complementary DNA strands are broken simultaneously. Not only does this cause a discontinuity in the genetic code but broken DNA ends are also vulnerable to further physical and chemical assault resulting in lost or damaged bases or the formation of abnormal DNA structures, all of which can result in loss of genetic information.

The failure to repair dsb can have dire genetic consequences. The physical discontinuity of dsb present a serious challenge for cell division as the equal partitioning of replicated genomes into daughter cells during mitosis relies on the segregation of intact chromosomes. The inaccurate repair of dsb, although sometimes unavoidable, may also result in the loss of genetic information and mutation. Alternatively, inappropriate repair of broken DNA ends may result in the generation of harmful genomic rearrangements such as the DNA translocations common in many cancers. These are particularly well characterized for breaks associated with the generation of antibody diversity in the immune system (see later), for example in Burkitts Lymphoma where the strong immunoglobulin heavy chain promoter becomes juxtaposed to the cellular oncogene c-myc [1]. Finally, since DNA breaks are a potent signal for the initiation of cell-cycle checkpoints, failure to repair a single dsb prior to cell division may lead to prolonged cell cycle arrest, failure to undergo cell division and ultimately cell death. Cells that escape arrest and continue to divide with unrepaired breaks may eventually succumb to mitotic catastrophe.



E-mail address: k.hiom@dundee.ac.uk

<sup>1568-7864/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.dnarep.2010.09.018



**Fig. 1.** Pathways for repairing DNA double strand breaks. Dsb can be repaired throughout the cell cycle by non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) or microhomology mediated end joining (MMEJ), which repair breaks regardless of DNA sequence and therefore are error prone. In NHEJ DNA ends are ligated directly, sometimes after trimming by nucleases or filling in by polymerases. NHEJ is initiated by the binding of Ku70/80 which recruits downstream factors including DNAPKcs and Artemis. Ligation of ends is carried out by the XRCC4–LigaseIV complex. In some circumstances one or more of the broken ends is refractory to Ku mediated NHEJ. In this case repair can proceed by nucleolytic processing and resection of the 3'-end until a short region of complimentary bases is revealed (in blue). Pairing of this microhomology stabilizes the broken ends, displaced flaps are removed (by Fen1 or Rad1/Rad10) and ligation can occur. During S and G2 phases dsb can also be repaired by homology directed repair. This requires extensive 5' to 3' resection of DNA to generate a 3' single stranded tail, which is stabilized by the single stranded binding protein RPA (yellow circles). This is then displaced by the RAD51 recombinase (light blue circles), which forms a nucleoprotein filament which invades a homologous DNA duplex. This process named strand exchange forms a DNA crossover or Holliday junction which provides a primer to initiate new DNA synthesis. At this point there can be several outcomes. In synthesis dependent strand annealing the newly synthesized DNA reverts back to its original partner where it can be used as a template to complete repair. Alternatively for homologous recombination the Holliday junction migrates away from the initial point of exchange (branch migration) until the junction is resolved by nucleolytic cleavage of either the crossed strands of the graves of the work Holliday junctions in different orientations results in the exchange of flanking markers (crossover), whereas resolution in the same orientation does not

Dsb can be generated in cells in a variety of ways. They may occur as a consequence of direct exposure to harmful exogenous agents, such as ionizing radiation, or indirectly by drugs like camptothecin, which inhibits the DNA breakage and rejoining cycle of topoisomerases required to release DNA torsion [2]. Dsb may also arise as by products of normal aerobic metabolism, which generates large numbers of potentially harmful oxygen free-radicals that can damage DNA [3]. DNA replication is another common source of dsb, either through errors in this process or through the replication of single stranded DNA breaks. Finally, there are a number of specialized cellular processes that generate and repair dsb as part of normal programmed genomic rearrangements. Two classic examples of this are V(D)J recombination and class-switch recombination, both associated with the generation of a diverse antibody repertoire in the immune system [reviewed in [4]]. In both these processes the generation and repair of dsb is 'managed' to avoid the potentially toxic effects of the lesion. These specialized chromosome breakage functions will be discussed specifically later on.

To counter the threat of dsb, organisms from unicellular bacteria to complex eukaryotes, have developed essentially two mechanisms for their repair, DNA end-joining and homologous recombination. While these mechanisms have evolved to account for differences in genomic complexity and multicellularity, the fundamental principles for repair of dsb are similar throughout evolution [5,6]. Accordingly, a huge contribution to our understanding of dsb repair has been made through studies on bacteria and fungi. However, the discussion here will largely be confined to the repair of DNA breaks in complex organisms.

## 2. DNA end-joining

#### 2.1. Non homologous end-joining (NHEJ)

The most straightforward way to repair a dsb is simply to rejoin the broken ends regardless of the genetic sequence at the break. This process is called non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). Dsb with flushed 5'-phosphorylated ends or complementary overhangs, can be re-ligated efficiently with relatively high fidelity by NHEJ [7]. However, if, as is often the case, nucleotides have been lost from the break site or DNA ends have become altered and are in need of processing before ligation can take place, then NHEJ is often mutagenic and is therefore considered to be error-prone. Consequently, while NHEJ plays a critical role in maintaining the structural integrity of DNA, it does not guarantee the preservation of genetic integrity.

The basic pathway for NHEJ is outlined in Fig. 1. DNA breaks are recognized and targeted for NHEJ through the rapid high affinity binding of the heterodimeric Ku70/80 complex to each of the broken ends [8,9]. The association of Ku70/80 with DNA end binding has no discernable sequence specificity, but rather DNA is threaded through a central fissure in the Ku70/80 complex, which enables it to diffuse away from the broken terminus leaving it accessible for other factors [10]. Ku70/80 binding serves two purposes. Firstly, Ku heterodimers at different DNA ends can interact and contribute to the tethering of broken DNA ends. This is particularly important for pairs of broken ends that are less able to associate, for example blunt ends, where there is no complimentary base pairing to facilitate the interaction of broken DNA ends [11]. Secondly, Ku70/80 serves as a platform for the recruitment of additional NHEJ factors (reviewed in [12]).

Once bound to DNA, Ku is thought to undergo a conformational change, which promotes the recruitment of the large DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNAPKcs), which binds both to DNA and to Ku70/80 [13]. It is the association of DNAPKcs with DNA bound-Ku that activates its serine/threonine kinase activity. This is a rapid event as DNAPKcs kinase activity contributes to the phosphorylation of the histone variant H2AX at DNA breaks, a very early event in the repair of dsb [14]. Beyond this, the contribution of DNAPKcs-dependent phosphorylation in dsb repair is unclear although it is thought that autophosphorylation of DNAPKcs might also be important for NHEJ.

Another complex recruited to DNA ends is Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN). Our understanding of the role of MRN in DNA end-joining is complicated by the fact that it is also required for dsb repair by homologous recombination. Although MRN has endo- and exonucleolytic activities these do not appear to be important for NHEJ in complex organisms [15]. Rather MRN is thought to assist Ku70/80 and DNAPK in tethering broken ends together by virtue of the zinc hook domains of RAD50 [16].

As mentioned above, not all broken DNA ends are immediately compatible for ligation. For example, loss of nucleotides at the break may lead to ends with incompatible termini (for example one end with a 3' overhang and one with a 5' overhang). Alternatively, one or more of the ends may have an abnormal structure such as a hairpin (this is particularly important in V(D)] recombination as we will see later). In these cases the DNA ends must first be processed to facilitate ligation. In yeast, but not higher eukaryotes, the endoand exonuclease functions of MRN are thought to be important for end processing [15]. However, in mammals another nuclease called Artemis is recruited to DNA breaks where it is phosphorylated and activated by DNAPKcs [17]. Biochemical studies have shown that Artemis itself has endonuclease activity, which can trim DNA overhangs and cleave hairpins at the transition between double and single stranded DNA in preparation for end-ligation. It may also associate with exonucleases, which contribute to this processing function [18,19]. Alternatively, DNA ends with incompatible overhangs might also be 'filled in' by one of several polymerases including pol $\mu$  and pol $\lambda$ , which are recruited for NHEI through the interaction of their N-terminal BRCT domains with Ku70/80 [19].

Once processed, the trimmed ends can be ligated through the activity of the DNA ligase IV–XRCC4–XLF complex [20,21]. Although XRCC4 has no discernable biochemical activity it is required for the stable interaction of LigaseIV with DNA ends. Moreover XRCC4–LigIV, in keeping with the wide variety of different DNA end structures, is very versatile, able to ligate a wide variety of DNA ends, including single stranded DNA and ends associated with gaps.

### 2.2. Alternative end joining/microhomology mediated end joining

On occasion, polypeptides may be covalently attached to a broken DNA end, for example after treatment of cells with the topoisomerase inhibiting drug camptothecin. Consequently, these DNA ends cannot be bound by Ku70/80 and be repaired by normal NHEJ but require a Ku-independent repair pathway. This pathway is called alternative end-joining (altNHEI) or sometimes microhomology mediated end-joining (MMEJ) (reviewed in [22]). In this case the blocked DNA end is removed by nucleolytic processing and one strand of the break is resected until a small region of complimentary base pairs (5-20 nt) is revealed. The broken ends are then stabilized through base-pairing, the displaced DNA flap is removed and ligation occurs. Like NHEJ, MMEJ does not take account of lost genetic information and therefore is also an error-prone pathway. The exact mechanism through which processing and resection of these ends is performed is not completely understood. However, both the MRN complex and another factor called CtIP, which was also reported to have endonuclease activity, play an important role [23]. Moreover some clues to this process may be gleaned from the function of the HerA and NurA proteins in the thermophilic archae Pyrococcus furiosus, which appear to perform an analogous function [24]. CtIP shares sequence similarities and considerable functional similarities with Sae2 protein in S. cerevisae [25,26] and Ctp1 in S. pombe [27], which also contribute to repair by MMEJ [28]. Biochemical studies on these proteins are likely to provide insight into the molecular function of their mammalian orthologues.

Both MRN and CtIP also play an important role in the resection of DNA ends during the early stages of homologous recombination, which as we shall see later makes an important contribution to the cell cycle regulation and pathway choice in dsb repair.

## 3. Specialized break repair functions for NHEJ

As mentioned earlier, dsb occur as normal intermediates in the pathways for generating antibody repertoire in the immune system. V(D)J recombination is the process whereby the mature gene coding for the antibody variable region is assembled from multiple arrays of V (variable), D (diversity) and J (joining) gene coding segments. Once assembled the coding DNA for the variable region of the immunoglobulin heavy chain is combined with DNA encoding one of several constant domains, which determine the isotype of the antibody (IgM, IgD, IgG, IgE or IgA). This process is called class switch recombination (CSR). Both these rearrangements involve the generation of broken DNA intermediates and their subsequent rejoining without eliciting the toxic effects associated with a sporadic dsb.

## 3.1. V(D)J recombination

The ordered assembly of the coding sequences for the variable domain of immunoglobulin and T-cell receptors is achieved through a cut and paste mechanism, in which dsb are introduced at a specific pair of gene segments separated by up to a megabase and the subsequent joining of the coding sequences. The incredible choreography of this process owes much to the function of the RAG1/RAG2 protein complex, which bind to specific gene segments, makes the dsb and holds the broken ends together for joining. However, we will limit ourselves to the repair of the dsb, the early steps of V(D)J recombination will not be discussed here. For a more in depth treatment see [29].

What is particularly interesting in the context of dsb repair is the nature of the broken DNA ends generated by RAG1/RAG2. These breaks are made at the boundary between the gene coding sequences and a specific recombination signal sequence (RSS) to which RAG1 and RAG2 bind. However, while the broken signal end is flush and 5'-ends phosphorylated, the broken coding end is closed in a hairpin structure. This owes much to the fact that the RAG proteins are related to transposons and generate the dsb through the transesterification chemistry that is common to transposases and retroviral integrases [30].

Ligation of the two signal ends by NHEJ is straightforward, often resulting in the generation of a covalently closed circular molecule which excises the intervening DNA sequence at the immunoglobulin or T cell receptor loci and is lost from the genome. However, productive assembly of the coding sequence for the antibody variable domain requires the joining of the two hairpin coding ends and therefore first requires processing [29]. As discussed above the two NHEJ factors with the capacity to deal with hairpins are DNAPKcs and Artemis, both of which have an important role in V(D) J recombination. This is supported in genetic studies which show that while mice lacking Ku exhibit defects in formation of signal joints, they can form coding joints albeit dependent on microhomologies [31]. Mice defective in either DNAPKcs or Artemis are defective in the formation coding joints and exhibit severe immune deficiencies.

It is important to note that NHEJ not only makes a quantitative contribution to the production of functional antibody genes, but also a qualitative contribution to the coding sequence. Firstly, the asymmetric opening of DNA hairpins by DNAPKcs/Artemis generates small nucleotide insertions, which may change both the quality and the reading frame of the coding DNA. Secondly, in cells expressing terminal deoxynucleotide transferase additional nucleotides may be added to the 3' end of the DNA prior to ligation adding further sequence diversity to the variable domain gene (reviewed in [32]). Clearly, in B and T cells the capacity of NHEJ to mediate error-prone rejoining is of great utility.

### 3.2. Class switch recombination

Class switch recombination (CSR) is less well understood at a mechanistic level. Like V(D)J recombination CSR occurs through a cut and paste mechanism where dsb are introduced at distantly positioned sequences in the genome, this time adjacent to the DNA coding for the different heavy chain constant regions. In contrast with V(D)J recombination the exact position of the dsb is less well defined occurring within regions which may be several hundred base pairs long comprising multiple repeats of conserved G/C rich sequences.

In CSR, breaks are introduced by the action of a series of proteins more commonly associated with base excision repair pathways [12,33]. This pathway is initiated by the specific deamination of cytosine bases to uracil within the switch region by AID, a member of the Apobec group of proteins involved in functions as diverse as RNA editing and viral restriction. The altered base is subjected to excision by subsequent action of the UNG DNA glycosylase and AP endonuclease resulting in the generation of single-stranded breaks in the DNA. Presumably the formation of a dsb arises through the very close proximity of AID initiated single strand breaks on complimentary DNA strands generated [34]. Since the exact nature of the switch break is difficult to determine, the mechanism through which broken DNA ends are co-located and ligated is also unclear. However, genetic evidence showing that mice defective in either Ku or DNA-PK are impaired, but not completely defective for CSR supports the involvement of the NHEJ pathway in this process [35-38].

For CSR the error-prone nature of NHEJ is not important as the fusion of the newly juxtaposed constant region to the variable domain coding sequence occurs by normal splicing of the mRNA message. Nevertheless for both V(D)J recombination and CSR the joining of appropriate ends appears to be tightly regulated since loss of this regulation and inappropriate joining of DNA ends to dsb elsewhere in the genome can result in the generation of harmful translocations associated with progression to cancer.

### 4. Homology directed DSB repair (HR)

NHEJ and MMEJ are functional throughout G1, S and G2 phase of the cell cycle. As cells progress through S-phase and into G2 replication produces a second copy of the genome in the form of a sister chromatid, providing a template to accurately repair the genetic information missing in the broken copy through homologous recombination/homology directed repair (HR) (Fig. 1). HR can occur in a variety of different forms but most share fundamental steps that are essential for accurate dsb repair. As with NHEJ and MMEJ, the first step in HR is the identification of the broken DNA ends. In human cells the order of early events is not completely clear but the recruitment of the MRN complex [16,39] and the phosphorylation of histone H2AX [40] are two early events. But, as we have seen earlier, these are not specific to HR since they occur also with end-joining. As with NHEJ, MRN may play a role in tethering the broken DNA ends for repair although in HR there is some evidence that the cohesin complex SMC5/6 may be important for maintaining the proximity of the homologous sister chromatids. MRN is also important in HR for the recruitment and activation of the DNA damage response-signaling kinase ATM [41], one function of which is to phosphorylate H2AX (this modified form referred to as yH2AX). The importance of this modification for dsb repair is not clear, because although vH2AX is an early marker for the generation of dsb in cells, mice lacking functional H2AX are only mildly defective in dsb repair.

What is clear is that the processing of broken DNA ends plays a key role in channeling DNA breaks into repair by HR. Whereas NHEJ and MMEJ require relatively local processing of DNA ends for ligation, a prerequisite for HR is that broken ends are extensively resected to a generate 3' single-stranded DNA tail onto which the central recombinase protein RAD51 can load. Although the exact mechanics of resection are unclear key players in this process include the helicase/nuclease functions of MRN and the BRCA1interacting protein CtIP [26], (also reported to posses nuclease functions in vitro), both of which also function in MMEJ. It is likely that MRN and CtIP collaborate in the initial processing of ends in preparation for more extensive resection by the processive singlestrand exonuclease Exo1 [42,43]. As with NHEJ genetic information at a broken DNA end may be lost before or during DNA end processing, but with HR this is retrieved in subsequent steps.

Initially, the 3'-ssDNA tail is bound and stabilized by binding of the single strand binding protein, RPA. However, RPA is soon displaced by RAD51 with the help of RAD52 and BRCA2 to form a nucleoprotein filament along the ssDNA tail [43,44]. It is assembly of this RAD51 nucleoprotein filament which initiates the search for homology in the sister chromatid and promotes the exchange of homologous DNA strands to form heteroduplex DNA (DNA duplex formed between complementary strands of DNA from different molecules).

At this point the HR pathway can diverge towards a number of different outcomes (for a fuller treatment of the mechanics of HR see [45]). One possibility is that the invading strand is replicated using the genetic information on its intact sister chromatid, to include the DNA sequence missing on the broken chromatid. Afterwards the replicated strand reverts to its original position having replaced the missing information and can be used to complete the repair synthesis on the broken strand. This pathway is called synthesis dependent strand annealing (SDSA).

Alternatively the two sisters can exchange strands to form a Holliday junction, which can then branch migrate to extend the regions of heteroduplex a process which may involve the RAD51 paralogues RAD51B, RAD51C and RAD51D. In this pathway nucleolytic resolution of the Holliday junction is required to separate the recombined sister chromatids. In mammalian cells resolution of the Holliday junction is most likely achieved through the action of the Slx1–Slx4 nuclease complex [46–48]. Mammalian cells also have another Holliday junction resolving protein called Gen1 (the orthologue of Yen1 in yeast) but its role is less clear [49]. The symmetry of Holliday junctions enabled them to be resolved in either of two orientations, which determines whether the DNA sequences flanking the Holliday junction are exchanged or not (see Fig. 1). Nevertheless in each case the dsb and the genetic information lost at a break in one chromatid is faithfully restored using its sister chromatid.

#### 5. End joining or HR: the battle for dsb

Although NHEJ and MMEJ repair pathways carry the risk of mutation the requirement for an intact genome is critically important for the two major cell cycle decisions, whether to replicate the genome and whether to undergo cell division? Consequently the NHEJ and MMEJ pathways are functional throughout G1, S and G2 phases of the cell cycle. Nevertheless in S and G2 phase when HR is also available it is of significant benefit to repair dsb, where possible, by accurate HR. How then might this be achieved? Recent evidence has highlighted a critical role for CtIP and DNA end-resection in the regulation of dsb repair through the cell cycle.

As described earlier, CtIP plays an important role in the resection of DNA ends for both MMEJ in G1 and HR during S-phase [23,25,26]. Interestingly, CtIP protein is present at relatively low levels in G1, presumably reflecting the limited need for DNA resection during end joining. However, in S-phase, when there is an increased requirement for ssDNA to initiate HR, CtIP protein not only becomes more abundant but also becomes phosphorylated at several sites, including two consensus sequences for cyclin dependent kinase (serine 327 and threonine 847) an important cell-cycle regulator [23,25]. Genetic studies revealed that phosphorylation at both putative CDK sites upregulates DNA end-resection with a concomitant increase in the repair of dsb by HR.

Phosphorylation of S327 is also required for the interaction of CtIP with the BRCT domains of BRCA1. Studies in DT40 confirmed that resection is not upregulated in BRCA1 defective cells even when CtIP is phosphorylated, establishing a mechanistic link between BRCA1 and DNA end-resection via CtIP [23]. It is of note that in yeast, which does not have a BRCA1 orthologue, only the CDK corresponding to T847 in CtIP is conserved [26]. Why vertebrates have an extra level of regulation is a question of considerable interest. Nevertheless, it seems likely that in simple and complex eukaryotes the regulation of DNA end resection is an important mechanism for shifting the balance in dsb repair from error-prone end-joining to accurate HR as cells progress through S and G2 phases.

A second important role for DNA end resection is the generation of RPA coated ssDNA, which acts as a signal for the G2/M cell cycle checkpoint [50]. It appears that by coupling dsb repair with cell cycle arrest through DNA resection, cells ensure that repair is completed before cell division occurs. It is perhaps not surprising therefore that defects in factors involved in HR such as BRCA1 and CtIP also compromise the G2/M checkpoint and may also be associated with cancer predisposition.

#### 6. NHEJ and HR: good intention, bad outcome

The balance between repair of dsb by end-joining and HR can be absolutely critical for the maintenance of genome integrity and cell viability. It is increasingly apparent that inappropriate intervention of NHEJ can have a considerable negative impact on genomic fidelity. Several examples of this have been published recently [51,52]. One relates to the repair of DNA crosslinks by the Fanconi anaemia (FA) pathway. Two groups showed independently that in cells defective in the FA pathway, both the loss of viability and the increased chromosomal abnormalities associated with exposure to DNA damage is alleviated by the additional impairment of NHEI. Or to put it another way, the NHEJ pathway is toxic to cells lacking a functional FA pathway. The implication is that lesions, which cannot be fully repaired by the FA pathway result in dsb that are released and acted upon by NHEJ in a manner that is deleterious to the cell, perhaps through incomplete or inappropriate repair resulting in chromosome abnormalities and reduced viability.

Another example of the battle for DNA ends has been provided by two further studies, which reported that disruption of 53BP1 reverses the effects of BRCA1 deficiency in mice [53,54]. Previous studies had shown that impairment of 53BP1 reduced tumour formation in BRCA1 deficient mice. The new studies provide a mechanistic explanation for this observation. First, these groups showed that the sensitivity of BRCA1 defective cells to DNA damage and to PARP inhibitors, as well as the accumulation of chromosome aberrations in these cells are also reversed by disrupting 53BP1. This, they go on to show, is due to partial restoration of HR in these cells. As described above, the HR defect in BRCA1 cells arises through a defect in the processing and resection of dsb. Accordingly Bunting et al. [53] demonstrate the restoration of DNA end resection in BRCA1 $\Delta$ 11/ $\Delta$ 11 53BP1-/- cells.

53BP1 is a mediator of the DNA damage response, which has been implicated in NHEJ, including that associated with CSR. Bunting and colleagues proposed a model where 53BP1 inhibits resection of DNA ends, which can be overcome by BRCA1. In the absence of BRCA1 one-ended dsb are channeled into NHEJ with the outcome that DNA ends are incorrectly or inappropriately repaired leading to chromosome aberrations and potentially to tumour formation (Fig. 2) [55,56]. However, in the absence of both factors, the requirement for BRCA1 is circumvented, resection can occur and accurate repair, using a sister chromatid as a template for HR, is no longer blocked. Again it appears that HR and NHEJ exist in a delicate equilibrium which when unbalanced may have deleterious consequences for genome stability and viability.

It is pertinent to mention that this model suggests that inhibition of 53BP1 might have therapeutic possibilities by reversing the HR defect in BRCA1-defective tumour cells. However, Bouwman et al. [54,57] have shown that many of the most aggressive triple negative breast cancer tumours also have mutations in 53BP1 as do many tumours lacking BRCA1. This suggests that there are other factors are at work and that in the context of a tumour cell the simple restoration of HR may not be of therapeutic benefit.

Genetic interactions between dsb repair and other DNA repair pathways may be exploited in therapy. A fine example of this is the use of drugs that inhibit the function of poly-ADP ribose polymerase (PARP), a component of the pathway for the repair of DNA base damage. Inhibition of PARP results in the accumulation of single strand breaks at sites of base damage, which after replication are converted to dsb in S phase. Whereas in normal cells, these dsb will be dealt with by HR, in cancer cells that are defective in HR by virtue of mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2 they are less well repaired and their toxic effects are more likely to kill the tumour cell [57,58]. This clever exploitation of dsb repair pathways has opened up a new paradigm for therapy by exploiting this synthetic lethality (where individual genetic defects are viable but in combination are lethal in a given environment) for disease treatment.

#### Double Strand Break



**Fig. 2.** Competition for dsb by BRCA1 and 53BP1. In wild type cells (left) the inhibitory effect of 53BP1 on DNA end resection is suppressed by the function of BRCA1 (presumably through its association with CtIP). In wild type cells dsb are repaired accurately by homology dependent repair, using homologous DNA (usually a sister chromatid) as a template. In BRCA1 defective cells 53bp1 inhibits DNA end resection and repair of an individual (one-ended) dsb proceeds only by error-prone NHE] to another broken end, regardless of its origin. This leads to misrepair, the generation of chromosome abnormalities and an increase in tumour formation. In cells lacking both BRCA1 and 53BP1 (right) resection and therefore HR, is partially restored because the inhibitory effect of 53BP1 on these processes is missing. Dsb are repaired more accurately resulting in reduced tumour susceptibility.

#### 7. Dsb repair in the context of chromatin

So far the discussion of dsb repair has carefully ignored the fact that DNA is not naked but is wrapped up in the nucleoprotein structure that is chromatin. Consequently, the detection, processing and mechanics of dsb repair require the manipulation of DNA within a chromatin context. The details of how this occurs are not well understood but it is thought to involve chromatin remodeling factors such as INO80, a yeast protein also conserved in mammals, which has been specifically linked with dsb repair [59].

In recent years attention has also turned towards the role of histone modifications in the signaling and repair of DNA damage. These modifications come in a wide variety, including mono-, di- and tri-methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitylation. It is thought that some provide a chemical mark for the recruitment of other factors, perhaps including chromatin-remodeling proteins, while other modifications might directly affect the local folding of chromatin. The most common histone modification associated with dsb is phosphorylation of H2AX, which is required for the recruitment of another repair factor, MDC1, to dsb. In addition the tri-methylation of histone H3 on lysine 4 and monomethylation of histone H4 lysine 20 have been shown to contribute to the regulation of V(D)J recombination and CSR respectively [60,61].

It now appears that histone ubiquitylation also plays an important role in the repair of dsb. Several studies have reported the involvement of an ubiquitin signaling cascade for the recruitment of factors involved in HR and in NHEJ. Key players in this pathway are the ubiquitin ligases RNF8, RNF168 and BRCA1, the ubiquitin conjugating factor UbcH13 and the deubiquitylating protein BRCC36. Each of these E3 proteins has been shown to be required for the accumulation of ubiquitin at sites of DNA damage. Moreover each has been shown to ubiquitylate histone H2A in vitro. The involvement of UbcH13 implies a likely role for polyubiquitin chains, joined through lysine 63. These are thought to be required for the recruitment of downstream proteins including, RAP80, Abraxas, BRCA1 and 53BP1. An in depth discussion of this signaling pathway can be found in [62].

The detailed mechanism of ubiquitin-mediated signaling is unclear and whether any of these modifications have a direct effect on chromatin structure is still to be determined. However, it is intriguing that mice lacking the RNF8 component of this pathway are defective in the removal of nucleosomes during spermatogenesis. Nevertheless, the potential importance of the ubiquitin signaling pathway derives from the fact that it is required for the recruitment of BRCA1 and 53BP1 providing a mechanistic link between NHEJ and HR. It too may play an important role in determining pathway choice in dsb repair.

Although our understanding of histone modification and modifying enzymes has advanced greatly, our knowledge about the contribution of chromatin architecture to dsb is lacking. Indeed very little is known about the specific factors required for the repair of dsb in chromatin. However, Goodarzi et al. recently addressed the issue of how the repair of dsb in heterochromatic regions of the genome might differ from that in euchromatic regions. They demonstrated that dsb formed in densely packed heterochromatin after treatment with ionizing radiation are repaired more slowly than those in euchromatin. Moreover, they identified an important role for the signaling kinase ATM specifically in the repair of heterochromatic dsb but not for euchromatic breaks. They went on to show that the requirement for ATM is for the phosphorylation of the heterochromatin associated factor KAP-1, which alters its affinity diminishing its association with heterochromatin [63].

In a subsequent study the repair of dsb in heterochromatin was been shown to require additional factors implicated in the ubiquitin mediated signaling cascade described above, including MDC1, RNF8 and RNF168 [64]. As we have seen before this pathway involves several histone-specific ubiquitin ligases and is also required for recruitment of BRCA1 and 53BP1. Again this places the ubiquitylation of histone H2A as a potentially key event in chromatin dynamics associated with dsb repair. Furthermore this provides further evidence that this interesting pathway, which was previously thought to be involved in the recruitment of factors involved in dsb repair by HR during s-phase, also appears to be important for the repair of heterochromatin associated dsb in G0/G1. Clearly the contribution of chromatin structure in both the generation and repair of dsb is a very complex and an interesting area for future study.

It seems that despite the considerable research effort studying the repair of dsb across the evolutionary landscape, new important and interesting avenues for investigation arise. Perhaps, after many years, the most exciting of these relate specifically to dsb repair in complex organisms, in particular those that directly relate to human disease and may impact on disease therapy. That said, our humble unicellular relatives often have a way of making us eat our words.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The author declares that there is no conflict of interest.

#### References

- [1] R. Taub, I. Kirsch, C. Morton, G. Lenoir, D. Swan, S. Tronick, S. Aaronson, P. Leder, Translocation of the c-myc gene into the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus in human Burkitt lymphoma and murine plasmacytoma cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79 (1982) 7837–7841.
- [2] L.F. Liu, C.C. Liu, B.M. Alberts, Type II DNA topoisomerases: enzymes that can unknot a topologically knotted DNA molecule via a reversible double-strand break, Cell 19 (1980) 697–707.
- B. Chance, H. Sies, A. Boveris, Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs, Physiol. Rev. 59 (1979) 527–605.
- [4] P. Šoulas-Sprauel, P. Rivera-Munoz, L. Malivert, G. Le Guyader, V. Abramowski, P. Revy, J.P. de Villartay, V(D)J and immunoglobulin class switch recombinations: a paradigm to study the regulation of DNA end-joining, Oncogene 26 (2007) 7780–7791.
- [5] K. Hiom, DNA repair: common approaches to fixing double-strand breaks, Curr. Biol. 19 (2009) R523–R525.
- [6] R. Bowater, A.J. Doherty, Making ends meet: repairing breaks in bacterial DNA by non-homologous end-joining, PLoS Genet. 2 (2006) e8.
- [7] J.H. Wilson, P.B. Berget, J.M. Pipas, Somatic cells efficiently join unrelated DNA segments end-to-end, Mol. Cell. Biol. 2 (1982) 1258–1269.
- [8] T. Mimori, J.A. Hardin, Mechanism of interaction between Ku protein and DNA, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 10375–10379.
- [9] T.M. Gottlieb, S.P. Jackson, The DNA-dependent protein kinase: requirement for DNA ends and association with Ku antigen, Cell 72 (1993) 131– 142.
- [10] E. de Vries, W. van Driel, W.G. Bergsma, A.C. Arnberg, P.C. van der Vliet, HeLa nuclear protein recognizing DNA termini and translocating on DNA forming a regular DNA-multimeric protein complex, J. Mol. Biol. 208 (1989) 65–78.
- [11] D.A. Ramsden, M. Gellert, Ku protein stimulates DNA end joining by mammalian DNA ligases: a direct role for Ku in repair of DNA double-strand breaks, EMBO J. 17 (1998) 609–614.
- [12] M.R. Lieber, The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 79 (2010) 181–211.
- [13] M. Yaneva, T. Kowalewski, M.R. Lieber, Interaction of DNA-dependent protein kinase with DNA and with Ku: biochemical and atomic-force microscopy studies, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 5098–5112.
- [14] T. Stiff, M. O'Driscoll, N. Rief, K. Iwabuchi, M. Lobrich, P.A. Jeggo, ATM and DNA-PK function redundantly to phosphorylate H2AX after exposure to ionizing radiation, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 2390–2396.
- [15] S. Moreau, J.R. Ferguson, L.S. Symington, The nuclease activity of Mre11 is required for meiosis but not for mating type switching, end joining, or telomere maintenance, Mol. Cell. Biol. 19 (1999) 556–566.
- [16] K.P.Hopfner, L. Craig, G. Moncalian, R.A. Zinkel, T. Usui, B.A. Owen, A. Karcher, B. Henderson, J.L. Bodmer, C.T. McMurray, J.P. Carney, J.H. Petrini, J.A. Tainer, The Rad50 zinc-hook is a structure joining Mre11 complexes in DNA recombination and repair, Nature 418 (2002) 562–566.
- [17] Y. Ma, U. Pannicke, K. Schwarz, M.R. Lieber, Hairpin opening and overhang processing by an Artemis/DNA-dependent protein kinase complex in nonhomologous end joining and V(D)J recombination, Cell 108 (2002) 781–794.

- [18] K.S. Pawelczak, J.J. Turchi, Purification and characterization of exonucleasefree Artemis: implications for DNA-PK-dependent processing of DNA termini in NHEJ-catalyzed DSB repair, DNA Repair (Amst) 9 (2010) 670–677.
- [19] Y. Ma, H. Lu, B. Tippin, M.F. Goodman, N. Shimazaki, O. Koiwai, C.L. Hsieh, K. Schwarz, M.R. Lieber, A biochemically defined system for mammalian nonhomologous DNA end joining, Mol. Cell 16 (2004) 701–713.
- [20] J. Gu, H. Lu, A.G. Tsai, K. Schwarz, M.R. Lieber, Single-stranded DNA ligation and XLF-stimulated incompatible DNA end ligation by the XRCC4–DNA ligase IV complex: influence of terminal DNA sequence, Nucleic Acids Res. 35 (2007) 5755–5762.
- [21] J. Gu, H. Lu, B. Tippin, N. Shimazaki, M.F. Goodman, M.R. Lieber, XRCC4:DNA ligase IV can ligate incompatible DNA ends and can ligate across gaps, EMBO J. 26 (2007) 1010–1023.
- [22] M. McVey, S.E. Lee, MMEJ repair of double-strand breaks (director's cut): deleted sequences and alternative endings, Trends Genet. 24 (2008) 529-538.
- [23] M.H. Yun, K. Hiom, CtIP-BRCA1 modulates the choice of DNA double-strandbreak repair pathway throughout the cell cycle, Nature 459 (2009) 460– 463.
- [24] B.B. Hopkins, T.T. Paull, The *P. furiosus* mre11/rad50 complex promotes 5' strand resection at a DNA double-strand break, Cell 135 (2008) 250–260.
- [25] P. Huertas, S.P. Jackson, Human CtIP mediates cell cycle control of DNA end resection and double strand break repair, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 9558–9565.
- [26] A.A. Sartori, C. Lukas, J. Coates, M. Mistrik, S. Fu, J. Bartek, R. Baer, J. Lukas, S.P. Jackson, Human CtIP promotes DNA end resection, Nature 450 (2007) 509– 514.
- [27] O. Limbo, C. Chahwan, Y. Yamada, R.A. de Bruin, C. Wittenberg, P. Russell, Ctp1 is a cell-cycle-regulated protein that functions with Mre11 complex to control double-strand break repair by homologous recombination, Mol. Cell 28 (2007) 134–146.
- [28] K. Lee, S.E. Lee, Saccharomyces cerevisiae Sae2- and Tel1-dependent singlestrand DNA formation at DNA break promotes microhomology-mediated end joining, Genetics 176 (2007) 2003–2014.
- [29] J.M. Jones, M. Gellert, The taming of a transposon: V(D)J recombination and the immune system, Immunol. Rev. 200 (2004) 233-248.
- [30] D.C. van Gent, K. Mizuuchi, M. Gellert, Similarities between initiation of V(D)J recombination and retroviral integration, Science 271 (1996) 1592– 1594.
- [31] M.A. Bogue, C. Wang, C. Zhu, D.B. Roth, V(D)J recombination in Ku86-deficient mice: distinct effects on coding, signal, and hybrid joint formation, Immunity 7 (1997) 37–47.
- [32] G.H Gauss, M.R. Lieber, Mechanistic constraints on diversity in human V(D)J recombination, Mol. Cell. Biol. 16 (1996) 258–269.
- [33] C.J. Jolly, A.J. Cook, J.P. Manis, Fixing DNA breaks during class switch recombination, J. Exp. Med. 205 (2008) 509–513.
- [34] M.S. Neuberger, R.S. Harris, J. Di Noia, S.K. Petersen-Mahrt, Immunity through DNA deamination, Trends Biochem. Sci. 28 (2003) 305–312.
- [35] R. Casellas, A. Nussenzweig, R. Wuerffel, R. Pelanda, A. Reichlin, H. Suh, X.F. Qin, E. Besmer, A. Kenter, K. Rajewsky, M.C. Nussenzweig, Ku80 is required for immunoglobulin isotype switching, EMBO J. 17 (1998) 2404–2411.
- [36] J.P. Manis, Y. Gu, R. Lansford, E. Sonoda, R. Ferrini, L. Davidson, K. Rajewsky, F.W. Alt, Ku70 is required for late B cell development and immunoglobulin heavy chain class switching, J. Exp. Med. 187 (1998) 2081–2089.
- [37] A. Rolink, F. Melchers, J. Andersson, The SCID but not the RAG-2 gene product is required for S mu-S epsilon heavy chain class switching, Immunity 5 (1996) 319–330.
- [38] K. Kiefer, J. Oshinsky, J. Kim, P.B. Nakajima, G.C. Bosma, M.J. Bosma, The catalytic subunit of DNA-protein kinase (DNA-PKcs) is not required for lg class-switch recombination, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104 (2007) 2843–2848.
- [39] R.S. Williams, G.E. Dodson, O. Limbo, Y. Yamada, J.S. Williams, G. Guenther, S. Classen, J.N. Glover, H. Iwasaki, P. Russell, J.A. Tainer, Nbs1 flexibly tethers Ctp1 and Mre11-Rad50 to coordinate DNA double-strand break processing and repair, Cell 139 (2009) 87–99.
- [40] E.P. Rogakou, D.R. Pilch, A.H. Orr, V.S. Ivanova, W.M. Bonner, DNA doublestranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 5858–5868.
- [41] T. Uziel, Y. Lerenthal, L. Moyal, Y. Andegeko, L. Mittelman, Y. Shiloh, Requirement of the MRN complex for ATM activation by DNA damage, EMBO J. 22 (2003) 5612–5621.
- [42] E.P. Mimitou, L.S. Symington, Sae2, Exo1 and Sgs1 collaborate in DNA doublestrand break processing, Nature 455 (2008) 770–774.
- [43] T. Sugiyama, S.C. Kowalczykowski, Rad52 protein associates with replication protein A (RPA)-single-stranded DNA to accelerate Rad51-mediated displacement of RPA and presynaptic complex formation, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 31663–31672.
- [44] P.L. Chen, C.F. Chen, Y. Chen, J. Xiao, Z.D. Sharp, W.H. Lee, The BRC repeats in BRCA2 are critical for RAD51 binding and resistance to methyl methanesulfonate treatment, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95 (1998) 5287–5292.
- [45] W.D. Heyer, K.T. Ehmsen, J. Liu, Regulation of homologous recombination in eukaryotes, Annu. Rev. Genet. 44 (2010) 113–139.
- [46] S. Fekairi, S. Scaglione, C. Chahwan, E.R. Taylor, A. Tissier, S. Coulon, M.Q. Dong, C. Ruse, J.R. Yates III, P. Russell, R.P. Fuchs, C.H. McGowan, P.H. Gaillard, Human SLX4 is a Holliday junction resolvase subunit that binds multiple DNA repair/recombination endonucleases, Cell 138 (2009) 78–89.
- [47] J.M. Svendsen, A. Smogorzewska, M.E. Sowa, B.C. O'Connell, S.P. Gygi, S.J. Elledge, J.W. Harper, Mammalian BTBD12/SLX4 assembles a Holliday junction resolvase and is required for DNA repair, Cell 138 (2009) 63–77.

- [48] I.M. Munoz, K. Hain, A.C. Declais, M. Gardiner, G.W. Toh, L. Sanchez-Pulido, J.M. Heuckmann, R. Toth, T. Macartney, B. Eppink, R. Kanaar, C.P. Ponting, D.M. Lilley, J. Rouse, Coordination of structure-specific nucleases by human SLX4/BTBD12 is required for DNA repair, Mol. Cell 35 (2009) 116–127.
- [49] S.C. Ip, U. Rass, M.G. Blanco, H.R. Flynn, J.M. Skehel, S.C. West, Identification of Holliday junction resolvases from humans and yeast, Nature 456 (2008) 357–361.
- [50] L. Zou, S.J. Elledge, Sensing DNA damage through ATRIP recognition of RPAssDNA complexes, Science 300 (2003) 1542–1548.
- [51] P. Pace, G. Mosedale, M.R. Hodskinson, I.V. Rosado, M. Sivasubramaniam, K.J. Patel, Ku70 corrupts DNA repair in the absence of the Fanconi anemia pathway, Science 329 (2010) 219–223.
- [52] A. Adamo, S. Collis, C.A. Adelman, N. Silva, Z. Horejsi, J.D. Ward, E. Martinez-Perez, S.J. Boulton, A. La Volpe, Preventing nonhomologous end joining suppresses DNA repair defects of Fanconi anemia, Mol. Cell 39 (2010) 25–35.
- [53] S.F. Bunting, E. Callen, N. Wong, H.T. Chen, F. Polato, A. Gunn, A. Bothmer, N. Feldhahn, O. Fernandez-Capetillo, L. Cao, X. Xu, C.X. Deng, T. Finkel, M. Nussen-zweig, J.M. Stark, A. Nussenzweig, 53BP1 inhibits homologous recombination in Brca1-deficient cells by blocking resection of DNA breaks, Cell 141 (2010) 243–254.
- [54] P. Bouwman, A. Aly, J.M. Escandell, M. Pieterse, J. Bartkova, H. van der Gulden, S. Hiddingh, M. Thanasoula, A. Kulkarni, Q. Yang, B.G. Haffty, J. Tommiska, C. Blomqvist, R. Drapkin, D.J. Adams, H. Nevanlinna, J. Bartek, M. Tarsounas, S. Ganesan, J. Jonkers, 53BP1 loss rescues BRCA1 deficiency and is associated with triple-negative and BRCA-mutated breast cancers, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 17 (2010) 688–695.
- [55] S.J. Boulton, DNA repair: decision at the break point, Nature 465 (2010) 301-302.
- [56] N.F. Lowndes, The interplay between BRCA1 and 53BP1 influences death, aging, senescence and cancer, DNA Rep. (Amst) 9 (2010) 1112–1116.

- [57] H.E. Bryant, N. Schultz, H.D. Thomas, K.M. Parker, D. Flower, E. Lopez, S. Kyle, M. Meuth, N.J. Curtin, T. Helleday, Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase, Nature 434 (2005) 913– 917.
- [58] H. Farmer, N. McCabe, C.J. Lord, A.N. Tutt, D.A. Johnson, T.B. Richardson, M. Santarosa, K.J. Dillon, I. Hickson, C. Knights, N.M. Martin, S.P. Jackson, G.C. Smith, A. Ashworth, Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy, Nature 434 (2005) 917–921.
- [59] A.J. Morrison, J. Highland, N.J. Krogan, A. Arbel-Eden, J.F. Greenblatt, J.E. Haber, X. Shen, INO80 and gamma-H2AX interaction links ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling to DNA damage repair, Cell 119 (2004) 767–775.
- [60] K.B. Morshead, D.N. Ciccone, S.D. Taverna, C.D. Allis, M.A. Oettinger, Antigen receptor loci poised for V(D)J rearrangement are broadly associated with BRG1 and flanked by peaks of histone H3 dimethylated at lysine 4, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100 (2003) 11577–11582.
- [61] G. Schotta, R. Sengupta, S. Kubicek, S. Malin, M. Kauer, E. Callen, A. Celeste, M. Pagani, S. Opravil, I.A. De La Rosa-Velazquez, A. Espejo, M.T. Bedford, A. Nussen-zweig, M. Busslinger, T. Jenuwein, A chromatin-wide transition to H4K20 monomethylation impairs genome integrity and programmed DNA rearrangements in the mouse, Genes Dev. 22 (2008) 2048–2061.
- [62] S. Panier, D. Durocher, Regulatory ubiquitylation in response to DNA doublestrand breaks, DNA Repair (Amst) 8 (2009) 436–443.
- [63] A.A. Goodarzi, A.T. Noon, D. Deckbar, Y. Ziv, Y. Shiloh, M. Lobrich, P.A. Jeggo, ATM signaling facilitates repair of DNA double-strand breaks associated with heterochromatin, Mol. Cell 31 (2008) 167–177.
- [64] A.T. Noon, A. Shibata, N. Rief, M. Lobrich, G.S. Stewart, P.A. Jeggo, A.A. Goodarzi, 53BP1-dependent robust localized KAP-1 phosphorylation is essential for heterochromatic DNA double-strand break repair, Nat. Cell Biol. 12 (2010) 177–184.